1953

Mike Dragos and Milka Dragos v. Teddy G. Russell and Manilla Russell : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an action between adjoining land owners to determine the property line between them, each side claiming trespass and damages against the other. Plaintiffs were awarded judgment by the District Court. The case was then appealed to the Supreme Court, *Dragos v. Russell --Utah--*, 227 P. 2d 831. The Supreme Court reversed and remanded the case with instruction that additional evidence be taken to determine the description necessary to fix the boundary line between the lots of the adverse parties, along the old fence line

north of defendants' new cabins, and to determine location of the sewer line. Further evidence was taken by the District Court and a judgment entered placing the line between the parties along the old fence line with the sewer line to remain in place. Thereafter the judgment was modified placing the property line underneath or near the north edge of defendants' (Teddy G. and Manilla Russell) cabins and ordering the sewer line to be removed. Defendants' appeal from this last modified judgment.

The retrial was held January 19, 1952, and all transcript references herein will be made to the transcript of the rehearing.

The question of the location and removal of the sewer line has now become mute inasmuch as defendants have removed same to the south side of their cabins.

The evidence of plaintiffs on the retrial, was largely an attempt to show the fence had been moved by defendants and was not north of defendants' new cabins, in contradiction of the Supreme Court's former decision.

All parties appear to agree the front line of both plaintiffs' and defendants' property boarding on State Street is 33 feet west of the east line of Lot 15, Block 33, Ten Acre Plat "A", Big Field Survey, and that the dividing point for the front of the land on State Street is North $0^{\circ} 01' 30''$ East 65.06 feet and South $89^{\circ} 55'$ West 33 feet from the Southeast corner of said lot, in Salt Lake County, State of Utah.

The surveyer's plat (Def. Exh. 1 of Jan. 19, 1952) shows the line, claimed by defendants to be the old fence line as running from west to east, however, we believe it will be easier to follow the description from the above described starting point and proceed from east to west.

The old fence line commences at a point (Point 1, Def. Exh. 1 of Jan. 19, 1952), which coincides with the deed point of origin on the east property line of the lands of both parties. This point is North $0^{\circ} 01' 30''$ East 65.06 feet and South $89^{\circ} 55'$ West 33 feet from the Southeast corner of Lot 15, Block 33 Ten Acre Plat "A" Big Field Survey, in Salt Lake

County, Utah (Def. Exh. 1 of Jan. 19, 1952) and runs thence along an old fence South $83^{\circ} 26'$ West 7 feet to point 2 (sway in fence), thence North $82^{\circ} 54'$ West 10 feet to point 3 (sway in fence); thence North $89^{\circ} 54'$ West 87 feet to point 4, the west end of an old fence running west from the east side and between the lands of the parties, each point is a curve in the fence, (Tr. 22, Def. Exh. 1 of Jan. 19, 1952). This fence looks like it has not been disturbed, (Tr. 22); thence North $88^{\circ} 23'$ West 37 feet to a position south of point 5, the east power pole (Def. Exh. 1 of Jan. 19, 1952, Tr. 22, 28-29). This pole is about 2 feet north of defendants' cabins, (Tr. 26); thence North $89^{\circ} 47'$ West 187 feet, (south of point 6 the south end of an old fence running north and south on plaintiffs' property) to point 7, the west power pole, (Def. Exh. 1 of Jan. 19, 1952, Tr. 21). This pole is about 1.5 feet north of defendants' cabins, (Tr. 22, 27); thence South $89^{\circ} 45'$ West 67 feet (north of point 8, the northwest corner of defendants' new cabins) to point 9, old trees, (Def. Exh. 1 of Jan.

19, 1952, Tr. 20, 21); thence South $87^{\circ} 44'$ West 12.7 feet to point 10, the east end of an old fence, (Def. Exh. 1 of Jan. 19, 1952, Tr. 21); thence North $89^{\circ} 46'$ West 87.43 feet along an old wood fence between plaintiffs' land on the north and defendants' land on the south to point 11, an old fence post on the west side of the lands of the parties hereto, (Def. Exh. 1 of Jan. 19, 1952, Tr. 21). This post is also in line with the fence proceeding west and dividing the land west of the land herein in dispute, (Tr. 10, 23, 24). All parties appear to agree that this post is 2.7 feet north of the deed line, (Tr. 24, Def. Exh. 1 of Jan. 19, 1952), except one witness for plaintiffs, who places it 3 feet north of the deed line, (Tr. 10). All parties appear to agree this post is North $0^{\circ} 01' 30''$ East 67.76 feet and South $89^{\circ} 55'$ West 528 feet from the Southeast corner of said lot.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

1. The former decision of the Supreme Court of the State of Utah between the parties in this case, *Dragos vs. Russell*, --Utah-- 237 P. 2d 831, controls

further hearing in the action.

2. The findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment and decree entered by the District Court January 29, 1952, as corrected, were correct, and were supported by the evidence.

3. The District Court erred in entering the order of March 1, 1952 straightening the fence line 165 feet due west and the previous line west of the new point to remain the same.

4. The District Court erred in entering amended Findings of fact, conclusions of law, and the amended judgment and decree, July 21, 1952. These are not supported by the evidence, and are contrary to the evidence, the law and the rule of the case set forth in the Supreme Court in the former hearing *Dragos v. Russell --Utah--*, 237 P. 2d 831.

ARGUMENT

I.

The former decision of the Supreme Court of the State of Utah between the parties in this case, *Dragos v. Russell, --Utah--*, 237 P. 2d 831, controls further

hearing in the action.

An adjudication on a former appeal becomes the law of the case for subsequent proceedings including subsequent appeal. *Grand Central Mining Co. vs. Mammoth Mining Co.*, 36 Utah 364, 104 Pac. 573; 3 Am. Jur. 541, Sec. 985. In *Helper State Bank vs. Crus*, 95 Utah 320, 81 P. 2d 359 at page 361 the court speaking of this rule says:

"It is well established rule in this jurisdiction, as well as in a majority of other jurisdictions that where the question of law and fact are the same the decision of the first appeal, whether right or wrong, becomes the law of the case on the second appeal and is binding as well on the parties to the action, the trial court, and the appellate court. To this effect was *Wenard v. Green*, 4 Utah 456, 11 P. 337; *Societe des Mines v. Mackintosh*, 7 Utah 35, 24 P. 669; *Krantz v. Rio Grande Ry. Co.*; 13 Utah 1, 43 P. 623, 32 L.R.A. 828; *Brim v. Jones*, 13 Utah 440, 45 P. 46, 352; *Silva v. Pickard*, 14 Utah 245, 47 P. 144; *People's B. & L. Ass'n v. Fouble*, 18 Utah 206, 55 P. 57; *Petter v. Ajax Mining Co.*, 22 Utah 273, 61 P. 999; *Herriman Irrigation Co. v. Keel*, 25 Utah 96, 69 P. 719; *State v. Mortensen*, 27 Utah 16, 74 P. 120, 350; *Corporation of Members of L.D.S. v. Watson*, 30 Utah 126, 83 P. 731; *Teakle v. San Pedro Railroad Co.* 36 Utah 29, 102 P. 635, 639; *Grand Central Mining Co. v. Mammoth M. Co.*, 36 Utah 364, 104 P. 573, Ann. Cas. 1912A, 254; *Grow v. Oregon S. L. Ry. Co.*, 47 Utah 26, 150 P. 970; *Chadwick v. Beneficial Life Ins. Co.*, 56 Utah 480, 191 P. 240; *Thompson v. Reynolds*, 59 Utah 416, 204 P. 516; *Huntsman v. Huntsman*,

61 Utah 376, 213 P. 179; Forbes v. Butler, 73 Utah 522, 275 P. 772; Utah State Nat. Bank v. Livingston, 74 Utah 456, 280 P. 327; Sessions v. Dee Memorial Hospital Ass'n., Utah, 78 P. 2d 645."

The Supreme Court, page two of the former decision, *Dragos v. Russell*, --Utah--, 237 P. 2d 831, provides:

"Additional evidence should be taken to determine what description is necessary to fix the boundary between the lots of the parties so that the new line correctly coincides with the fence line which is conclusively shown to be north of the cabins."

The under scoring is added.

II.

The findings of fact, conclusions of law, and judgment and decree entered by the District Court January 29, 1952, as corrected, were correct, and were supported by the evidence.

The survey line along the old fence line as set forth in the statement of facts might be more concisely stated in table form, showing the distance of each point from the deed line. These have been calculated by interpolation from the tables in Howard Chapin Ives, *Natural Trigonometric Functions*. Second Ed., Fourth Printing, 1945, and are as follows:

<u>Description</u>	<u>Distance from deed line</u>
Commencing at point of origin 0° 01' 30" E 65.06 ft. and S 89° 55' W 33 ft. from SE cor. Lt. 15, Blk. 33, Ten Acre Plat "A", B. F.S. in Salt Lake Co., Utah, (point 1)	0
th. S 83° 26' W 7 ft. to point 2 (sway in fence)	.794 ft. S
th. N 82° 54' W 10 ft. to point 3 (sway in fence)	.462 ft. N
th. N 89° 54' W 87 ft. to point 4 (west end of fence)	.741 ft. N
th. N 88° 23' W 37 ft. to point 5 (East Power Pole)	1.829 ft. N
th. 89° 47' W 187 ft. to point 7 (West power pole)	2.938 ft. N
(N W corner of cabins point 8)	2.774 ft N.
th. S 89° 45' W 67 ft. to point 9 (old trees)	2.743 ft N.
th. S 87° 44' W 12.7 ft. to point 10 (east end of old fence)	2.259 ft. N
th. N. 89° 46' W 87.43 ft. to point 11 (post on west end of old fence)	2.742 *
*cumulative error .042 ft.	

This table shows the fence line as determined
by the survey of George V. Gudgeon, a professional

engineer and surveyor (Tr. 18) is the correct line for the old fence line north of the building.

The general direction of the old fence is toward the north, from the east to the west, the same general direction of the new cabins constructed after 1944.

The sewer line as established by the surveyor, George V. Gudgell, runs in the same general direction south of the fence line, being about one foot to fourteen inches away from the buildings (Tr. 26). Defendants contend this location of the sewer line is correct and that the sewer line was south of the fence and that its location adds credance to the location of the fence line as established and claimed by defendants.

It is not controverted that plaintiffs attached to defendants' sewer line at one time and paid defendants for such accomodation. Does such action indicate plaintiffs were complaining that the sewer line was on their land or

extending beyond the fence line, which they and defendants were recognizing as the line between them?

Plaintiffs' witnesses themselves add credance to defendants' arguments. George S. Jones testifying for plaintiffs said that in 1936 or 1937 a pole was placed next to the fence (Tr. 5). (This is the east pole or point #5 on Def. Exh. 1 of Jan. 19, 1952). He could not say how far the pole was from the fence, maybe 10 or 12 inches. He did not know about the other pole (Tr. 6). Thus by the testimony of plaintiffs' witness George S. Jones, the location of the east pole point #5, the old fence would be at least one foot or more north of defendants' building.

The fence line in the survey by the witness George V. Gadgell was followed where it remained and as many points as could be were tied to determine

its proper location, (Tr. 28, 29). In addition the fence line and the westernmost post thereof coincides with the fence line between lands to the west of the lands here in question, (Tr. 10, 11, 24). This supports contention of defendants that the location of the fence line as heretofore set forth is correct.

III

The District Court erred in entering the order of March 1, 1952 straightening the fence line 165 feet due west and the previous line west of the new point to remain the same.

The old fence running from the east sidewalk towards the west runs to the north as disclosed by the evidence. There is no evidence whatsoever indicating the old fence line runs due west, (points 1,2,3, and 4 Def. Exh. 1 of Jan. 19, 1952). Such order is in direct conflict with the former Supreme Court decision, *Drages v. Russell*, --Utah--, 237 P. 2d 831.

IV

The District Court erred in entering findings of fact, conclusions of law, and the amended judgment

and decree, July 21, 1952. These are not supported by the evidence, and are contrary to the evidence, the law and the rule of the case set forth in the Supreme Court in the former hearing *Dragos vs. Russell --Utah--*, 237 P. 2d 831.

Nowhere in the record is there any evidence that the old fence ran from the beginning point (which is N $0^{\circ} 01' 30''$ E 65.06 feet and S $89^{\circ} 55'$ W 33 feet from the SE corner of Lot 15, Block 33, Ten Acre Plat "A" B.P.S.) South $89^{\circ} 55'$ West 165 feet (this is the old deed line) thence North $89^{\circ} 36' 52''$ West 330.002 feet. Such a finding and decree is contrary to the evidence and the former decision on appeal, *Dragos v. Russell, --Utah--*, 237 P2d 831.

If the line of this decree is followed and analyzed defendants contention can be seen more clearly. Calculation interpolation with the tables in Howard Chapin Ives, *Natural Trigonometric Functions*, Second Ed. Fourth Printing, 1945, the foregoing line S $89^{\circ} 55'$ W) would reach the edge of defendants' cabins 144.32 feet from the east sidewalk. At 165

feet from the sidewalk the line would be .234 feet underneath defendants' cabins.

At 165 feet west of the sidewalk the line continues N 89° 36' 52" W. to be 2.7 feet north of the deed line 330.002 feet further west, however the cabins extend north over the deed line 2.7 feet at the northwest corner of the cabins, which is one 217.1 feet west of the point, 165 feet west of the east sidewalk. Thus at the northwest corner of the cabins they extend over this decreed line .9226 feet or almost one whole foot. Thus almost the complete north edge of defendants' cabins have been determined to be encroaching over the fence line between the parties which the Supreme Court's decision held was north of defendants' cabins, *Dragos v. Russell*, --Utah-- 237 P. 2d 831.

CONCLUSION

Upon the basis of the law and the facts it is respectfully submitted that this court should determine the boundary line between the parties herein, to be along the old fence lines and described as follows:

"Beginning at a point which is North 0° 01' 30" East 65.06 feet and South 89° 55' West 33 feet from the Southeast corner of Lot 15, Block 33 Ten-Acre Plat "A", Big Field Survey, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, and running thence South 83° 26' West 7 feet, thence North 82° 54' West 10 feet, thence North 89° 54' West 87 feet, thence North 88° 23' West 37 feet, thence North 89° 47' West 187 feet, thence South 89° 45' West 67 feet, thence South 87° 44' West 12.7 feet, thence North 89° 46' West 87.43 feet to a point North 0° 01' 30" East 67.76 feet and South 89° 55' West 528 feet from the Southeast corner of Lot 15, Block 33, Ten Acre Plat "A", Big Field Survey, Salt Lake County, State of Utah.