1953

# Mike Dragos and Milka Dragos v. Teddy G. Russell and Manilla Russell : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

## POINT I

TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S ADVERSE POSSESSION.

## POINT II

ORDINARY USE OF OCCUPANT MAY COMPREHEND HOLDING LAND FOR INVESTMENT, SPECULATION, LEASE, RESALE, OR THE LIKE.

(These two points are consolidated for argument under the several subheadings as indicated hereafter.)



## (A) POSSESSION OF THE GROUND :

It is patently evident, and not controverted (Rec. 17-19, 45-52) that appellant took possession of the ground in question under claim of right pursuant to tax deed (Exhibit "A"), issued on June 7, 1939, by going actually, and physically upon the property, shortly after receiving his deed, clearing up the trash and weeds, placing "for rent" and "no trespassing" signs thereon, and, that he continued such acts, and maintained an uninterrupted possession right on through and down to the time of trial, and had had the lot plowed in 1949 fall season. No one interfered with appellant's control in such manner as to oust or hinder him, although by the testimony of respondent and some of his witnesses, it appeared that they, too, did sometimes go on the vacant ground in question, but such were only minor trespasses that might happen in any neighborhood upon vacant lots.

## (B) OCCUPANCY OF THE GROUND :

Having taken possession of the ground, plaintiff is deemed an occupant. See *Twiggs vs. State Board of Land Commissioners*, 27 Utah 241, 75 Pacific 729, at page 731, where the court said :

"Occupancy does not necessarily include residence. Webster defines 'occupancy' as the 'act of taking or holding possession'; and an 'occupant' as one who has the actual use or possession, or is in possession of a thing.' In 2 Ralph. & Lawrence's Dictionary, 893, we find that in its usual sense, occupancy is when a person exercises physical control over the land."

From 1939 onward, no one ousted appellant, no one brought any suits to enjoin him from performing any act that he performed on the land, and he continued in actual uninterrupted possession. There is no evidence of any person, including respondents, or their predecessors, who did or performed any act or acts sufficiently inconsistent with appellant's occupancy during the period 1940-1949, to gainsay that fact. And, as stated in 1 Jones Commentaries on Evidence (2nd Edition), Page 40:

“*Section 268. Possession. — Possession of either realty or personalty, once proved, is presumed to continue until the contrary is shown.* Thus it is proved at a given time “B” was seized of land. The presumption is that such seisen continues, and the burden is on him who alleges disseisin.”

Nothing contained in the transcript of the evidence shows anything to indicate appellant's possession was terminated or ousted.

Furthermore, in the case of *West End Brewing Company vs. Osborne*, 238 N.Y.S. 345, 227 App. Div. 340, the Court held, in determining whether or not a tax deed purchaser had complied with statutory requirements of serving notice of expiration of redemption period on an occupant of land, that as no notice had been given to an owner maintaining an advertising sign on the ground, that the statutory requirements had not been met, and stated:

“Actual possession is the same as *pedis possessio* or *pedis positio*, and this means a foothold on the land, an actual entry, and possession in fact, and standing upon it as a real demonstra-

tive act done. Churchill vs. Onerdank, 59 N.Y. 134, 136. 'Actual possession is usually evidenced by occupation \* \* \* \* or by appropriate use according to the particular locality and quality of the property. 48. C. J. 780. The lots were not vacant [referring to an advertising sign thereon] . . . . The location was suitable for advertising, and the plaintiff erected the sign and used and maintained it to advertise its product. Although its name as owner did not appear thereon, nevertheless, its products were advertised. The use was an appropriate one, according to locality, *and constituted actual occupancy . . . .*'

It would seem to follow, that appellant's maintenance of signs would be a further act of occupancy.

Such minor trespasses, and the like, as committed by respondents, and others, strangers to the land, would not interrupt the possession and/or occupancy of appellant, for the rule is, as stated in *Weyse vs. Biedebach*, a California District Court of Appeal Case, 261 Pac. Rep. page 1086 (1089):

"The rule is well established in California, that *the use and occupation requisite to adverse possession do not always require 'constant' use.* Myers v. Berven, 166 Cal. 484, 137 P. 260. It is enough that the property be devoted to the ordinary use of the occupants, and temporary abandonments or periods of vacancy which evince no intention of abandonment do not interrupt the possession . . . ."

(C) THE ORDINARY USE OF THE OCCUPANT:

This phrase as used in the Utah Statutes [Sec. 104-2-9, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, Sec. 104-12-9, Chapter

58, Laws 1951, Page 182-3] is not further defined therein, and it is inherent in the wording, that the determinative use is to be “fixed” by the “occupant” of the ground, and, it can readily be seen, that, land can be put to as great a variety of usages, as the fertile brain of mankind can devise. Similarly worded statutes in California have been liberally interpreted, as shown by the following language from *Posey vs. Bay Point Realty Company*, a California Supreme Court decision, reported in 241 Cal. 708, 7 Pac. 2d, 1020, where the court says:

“[3, 4] . . . . If but slight use can be made of land claimed adversely, then the requirements of continuous and uninterrupted occupancy are satisfied, if such slight use as can be made is made thereof. This is the plain meaning of the clause “for the ordinary use of the occupant”; it means a use appropriate to the location and character of the property, each case resting upon its own peculiar facts.”

It should furthermore be kept in mind that our present section 104-2-9, U.C.A. 1943 or section 104-12-9, Chapter 58, Session Laws 1951, has, in substantially the same form been on the statute books since before the compilation of laws of 1876. In the days of its original enactment, the landholdings, and real property questions, embraced the home, the homestead or farm, timber, pasture, or agricultural ground. Even so-called “urban” landholdings of that period commonly included large enough lots or tracts to permit gardening, maintaining a cow, and the like. So, in viewing the sections of that statute, it will be found that all the modes of “usage”

of the occupant were those pertinent to a predominantly agricultural community life, identified with the times. Briefly, let us list them:

- (1) Cultivating or improving the land,
- (2) Protecting it by a substantial inclosure,
- (3) Where used for obtaining fuel, or fencing timber for purpose of husbandry, or for pasturage, or the ordinary use of the occupant, while uninclosed.
- (4) Where a known farm lot has been partly improved, the portion of such farm or lot that may have been left uncleared or uninclosed according to usual course and custom of the adjoining county is deemed to have been occupied for the same length of time as the parts improved and cultivated.

But, time marches on, and use appropriate in 1876, while still applicable to rural holdings, have, in urban areas and centers been superseded by other uses, and other uses appropriate to the location and character of the property and the present time.

Now, just as the Utah Supreme Court, in *Spangler vs. Corless*, 61 Utah 88, 211 Pacific 692, in construing the exemption statutes, in the case of the "one horse, with vehicle and harness or other equipment used by a physician, surgeon, . . ." as exempted by the statutes, to mean, in the light of later times, that when the horse drawn vehicle was superseded by an automobile, the latter would likewise come within the purview of the statutory exemption, so, the Court must now con-



sider that the transition from a rural to an urban use area, will introduce into our economy other uses and bases for holding ground, and, the construction of the term "ordinary use of the occupant", must be made in a manner befitting current conditions.

It appears from the evidence (Rec. 35), that appellant has purchased and held property at tax sales; and, from other cases in this Court, such as *Parker vs. Ross*, 217 Pac. 2d 373, *Pender vs. Bird*, 224 Pac. 2d 1057. *Pender vs. Anderson*, 235 Pac. 2d 360, that appellant deals in real property and real property interests. It follows that as a concomitant principle, that realty is now, often held, particularly in newly growing or developing areas, or in changing areas, as vacant ground, rather than for primary agricultural, residential, or the like use, and not infrequently, as an investment, rental, or speculative venture.

So, it is urged, that in locations such as this, especially, since it appears that residents of the locality (Rec. 71) wanted the school board to add it to the school playground, that it would be a perfectly proper and consistent use of the occupant to hold it for investment, resale, for rent, to whomever might buy, as one of the "ordinary uses" permitted to an occupant. The Court should therefore find that appellant's usage of the ground, both factually and legally, falls within the scope of the statutory definition.

(D) ADVERSE POSSESSION REQUIREMENTS OF APPLICABLE  
STATUTES:

Considering now, the several factors necessary to

gain title by adverse possession under a written instrument, it is to be noted:

- (a) Appellant went into possession under a tax deed.
- (b) That appellant took actual physical possession of the land and occupied the same.
- (c) That the land was used for the ordinary purposes or usage of the occupant-appellant.
- (d) That the land was continuously occupied and claimed for seven years by the appellant and, that he paid all taxes during such 1940-9 period, as required by the provisions of Section 104-2-8 U.C.A. 1943, or by Section 104-12-8, Utah Session Laws 1951, Ch. 58.

It is now elementary law that the validity of the instrument in writing under which appellant entered, is no barrier to obtaining title by adverse user, even if such instrument were invalid for any reason. It should be held that the trial court was in error, in not finding for appellant on the issue of adverse possession, and, that ordinary use of the occupant was maintained in this instance and under the circumstances detailed herein.

(E) PRESUMPTIONS:

Counsel are not unmindful of the situation that might be created by the provisions of Section 104-2-7, U.C.A. 1943, or 104-12-7, Ch. 58, Session Laws, 1951, which in the form therein set forth, or in the amended further form of Section 104-2-7, Chapter 19, Session Laws, 1951, might be applied to this set of

facts, based on the theory that respondents, for the purposes of suit might be presumed to have established such title, as would give them a theoretical possession, and subordinate other titles to theirs. However, a careful reading of the wording in the section, and the provisions thereof, will show that no benefit can be squeezed therefrom for respondents.

Previous references to this statute in cases, seem to have construed it as reading:

“ . . . the person establishing *THE LEGAL TITLE* to such property, shall be presumed to have been possessed, etc. . . . ”

whereas, the statute now and always has read:

“ . . . the person establishing *A LEGAL TITLE*, to such property, shall be presumed to have been possessed, etc. . . . ”

Now, it must be conceded, from the following authorities, that a legal title may be based on a tax title, a title by adverse possession, by record title, and so forth:

“[3] As we have previously stated, appellee based his right to redeem on his tax title which was entirely disconnected from his judgment lien. Certainly, a tax title, which is *prima facie* valid, is a ‘legal title’, which authorizes the holder thereof to redeem real estate.” —Murray vs. Holland, Indiana, 27 N.E. 2nd, 126.

“[1] . . . It is true that, in an action under this statute to quiet title, the plaintiff must have both title and possession, but this does not mean that he must have paper title to the land. It only means that he must be claiming the land under



such a title as would give him the right to possession of it, and this character of title may rest on adverse possession . . . .” —Turner vs. Bowens, Ky. 203 S.W. 749.

“[3] The title acquired by limitations is a legal title, and not an equitable title, . . . .” —Houston Oil Company vs. Ainsworth, Texas, 192 S.W. 614.

“[17] The term “legal title” has no absolute or strict meaning . . . . It is not necessarily the record title for legal title may be acquired by possession.” —Barnes v. Boyd, 8 Fed. Sup. 584.

Applying the terms of the statute to our facts: If it is argued that respondents have any benefit from such statute by virtue of the presumption, then, it may be answered that appellant likewise has the benefits of the presumptions, since he has a legal title under and by virtue of his tax deed. If nothing more appeared, there might be a stalemate over the effects of such presumptions. See the parallel set out as situation (2), 1 Jones Commentaries on Evidence, 2nd Edition, at page 610, Section 357 on Conflicts, Relative Weights and Presumptions on Presumption. But, as between the two legal title holders, appellant was the one who brought the suit, not the respondent, and appellant’s evidence showed him to be the more aggressive actor respecting the ground, as he had it plowed, had weeded it, put up signs, occupied, and paid the taxes on it, and by analogy to the situation (2) discussed in Jones on Evidence, appellant by “introducing some other testimony to meet his burden of proof”,

has overcome any benefit of the presumption that might be claimed for respondents, who would likewise lose any presumption in their favor by reason of the provision of the same statute which says, following the mention of the presumption, "unless it appears that the property has been held and possessed adversely to such legal title for seven years before the commencement of the action." which is truly the case here as above set out.

### POINT III

DOCTRINE OF TELONIS vs. STALEY SHOULD BE OVERRULED.

*Telonis vs. Staley*, 104 Utah 537, 144 Pac. 2nd 513, enunciated the principal that absence of the auditor's affidavits from assessment rolls would invalidate the tax sale procedure based on sales for years with no affidavits on the rolls. This doctrine was bottomed on the theory that (1) No remedial legislation to relieve from this failure had ever been enacted, and (2) That the necessity of protecting the taxpayer in relying on the rolls, required affixation of the affidavits.

Permit us to say, in passing, that it is not our intent to burden the Court herein at this junction with repetition of the arguments in favor of the contrary view, as so ably and fully expressed in *Telonis v. Staley*, in former opinion in 106 Pac. 2d 163, 99 Utah 336, and the dissenting opinion of Mr. Justice Larson beginning at page 519 of 144 Pacific 2nd 513, as members of the court are as fully cognizant of them as are counsel,

but to point out that in addition to all the arguments expressed in those opinions, that our legislature by the successive acts of amendment to our statutes of limitation relating to tax sales, Sections 104-2-5.10 and related sections of Chapter 19, Laws of Utah, 1943 (since declared unconstitutional) and in Sections 104-2-5 to 104-2.5.11, Chapter 19, Session Laws Utah, 1951, has been in effect, trying or making those remedial acts or curative acts, without which the court has previously held, such affidavits of the auditor were indispensable requisites. Furthermore, it seems most anomolous to say that such affidavits are a necessity for the protection of the taxpayer and his rights, and for his reliance, in order to set aside tax sales, and still, not to pursue the logical sequence of such reasoning to hold the lack of such affidavits make the procedure of the taxing unit absolutely void; yet, as in *Steele vs. San Luis Obispo*, 152 Cal. 785, 93 Pac. 1020, the taxpayer was denied recovery of taxes in proceedings against the taxing unit.

For these and other reasons, it is respectfully urged that the court reconsider its former holding, and, announce that it will no longer sustain attacks on tax deeds, based on such alleged defects as lack of auditor's affidavits on the assessment rolls, since it is apparent that the real and only purpose of such affidavits is to authenticate the tax rolls in such wise as to obviate proof by witnesses other than the rolls themselves of their correctness, and, to give the treasurer a basis for proceeding to collect the taxes listed therein—for surely the paramount doctrine of protection of the public revenue, and sustaining

the acts of its taxing officials, when they did perform their duties in accordance with law, and in such manner, as not to cause any real prejudice to any taxpayer, especially where it cannot be shown that any exception to the lack of such affidavits was taken at the time or year of assessment to halt in the beginning the evil complained about, should prevail.

## CONCLUSION

IT WAS ERROR, on the part of the trial court to deny the plaintiff-appellant his right to have his title to the premises in question quieted, and, to hold that he was not holding such premises adversely to the respondents, and, that his tax title was invalid.

WHEREFORE, the plaintiff and appellant prays this Honorable Court to reverse the holding of the trial court, and to remand the same for further proceedings in accordance with the principles set forth herein, or for the Supreme Court to find for appellant, and order recasting of the findings, conclusions, and decree directly.